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SUBJECT: CONVERSATIONS WITH THE MEXICAN GOVERNMENT ON THE OIL QUSSTION DURING

THE TIME THAT I WAS AMBASSADOR TO MEXICO AND GENERAL OBSERVATIONS ON THE OIL
SITUATION AND PROBLEM IN MEXICO.

This memorandum will necessarily be incomplete and subject to a great deal
of correction. I am dictating it entirely from memory and without eny reference
to letters or despatches which I wrote on the o0il situation in Yexico. The
chronclogical order which I may follow in these notes may not be correct. Uy
purpose in dictating this memorandum is simply to get down in rough form the
mein items which I wish to cover in the final notes on the subject.

The first neragraph of this memorendum, or rether the first part thereof,
will deal with the background of the o0il situstion and problem before I beceame
Ambassador to Mexico. I will not endeavor to ccver this in this memorandum,
merely noting that the first refinery in Mexico was established I believe near
Tempico in 1897 by the Pierce 0il Compeny. It used imported oil. The first
drilling for oil toock place many years later, or at least a number of years later
on the Isthmus of Tehuantepec by Lord Cowdrey. The whole story of the explération
and development of the Mexican oil resources up until expropriation is a most
interesting and fescinating one. The developments to which I shall refer in
this memorandum and in which I was & factor require & resumd of this oil develop-
ment as background. I am informed that a book by Percy Furber is one of the most
accurate accounts 2f the developments in the lMexican oil situation until expro=-
priation. I will consult this book and other books on the subject in preparing
the first paragraphs of introduction.to this memorandum.

The oil expropriation took place in 1938 under the presidency of General
Cardenase I will not endeavor at this point in this memorandum to cover any aspects

of the oil expropriation, as I wish to cover this more fully and devote the present

memorandum to my own part khWexmmf in the conversations on the oil problem which

did not begin until 1942 It is important, however, that as background to the

conversations which I had with the lexican government that I cover at least in
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a few paragraphs the expropriation and developments between 1938 end 1942,

My first connection with the o0il problem and in fact with any problems
connected with Mexico in our relations with that country, was during the latter
years of my stay in the Uepartment as an Assistent Secretary of State. The
political aspects of my work as an Assistant Secretary had to do with Europe
and I hed no direct connection with Latin American affairs. These were handled
directly under the supervision of Sumner Welles, then Under Secretary of State,
and of course of Secretery Hulle Because of the close friendship, however, which
existed between Secretery Hull and myself and his habit of consulting me on a
good many things, he discussed with me various aspects of the corversations
which were then going on, principally in 1939 and 19,0, betweamn Castillo Najers,
the lexican Ambassador in Weshington, and the Depertment, principally with
Sumner Welles and the legael officers of the Department. The United States gov-
ernment was endeavoring to reach a settlement of this o0il problem which had been
created between the United States and Mexico by the expropriation of the American
companies in 1938. The fect that expropriation had taken place and that no com-
pensetion had been paid was & matter of deep concern to our government. lle were
desirous for many reasons of improving our relationships with Mexico. As long as
proper compensation was not made for this expropriation, it was difficult to
consider in the proper atmosphere other problems between the United States and
Mexico in which both countries were deeply interested and desirous of reaching
some settlemente

Ambassador Castillo Najere was very close to General Cerdenes, the President
of Mexico. Cestillo Najera was a physician by profession and a good one, but he
was & man of broad educetion and culture end with considerable experience in
politics. He was a man of great understanding and perception. He himself realized
that it was desirable, in the interest of lMexico, that the relationships between

the two countries should be put on a more collaborative besis end that this meant
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the solving of some fundamental problems, among which were the compensation for
the Americen oil companies, as well es the settlement of the many claims which
so many American citizens had against the lMexican govermment on account of land
expropriations, loss of property during revolutions and other acts over which
they had no control. The so-called General Claims Commission betwsen Mexico and
the United States had been in existence for many years. This commission had been
studying for years the merits and the deteils of the particular claims which
American citizens had against the Mexicen govermment. It was quite natural that
many of these claims should be put in by the claimants at exhorbitent and
exaggerated figures. Others were put in at very reasonable figures. It was

the business of the mixed Claims Commission to find the just amount which each
claimant should receive.

There seems to be little doubt that General Cardenss himself was not
interested in reaching any settlement, either on the compensetion of the oil
companies or on the compensation of Americen claimants on the basis of the cases
which were before the claims commission. General Cardenss himself had deep
pre judices with regard to the United States. He had no particuler interest in
improving reletions between the United States and Mgexico. He was a man governed
very largely by his prejudices. The people whom he had around him were govermed
by the same kind of prejudices. Nor did he have any interest in the settlement
of the claims of American citizens ageinst the lexicen government for damage
which they had suffered through the agrarian laws in Mexico and through the
expropriation of their land, or through losses in revolution. General Cardenas

was responsible in the main for the oil expropriation being carried throughe.

A good many of the claims had arisen through acts of his administration. On the

other hand, some of these claims went many years back of the presidency of
General Cardenas. A great deal of credit is due to Ambassador Castillo Najera

in getting General Cardenas to agree even to a negotiation of these two important
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metters. Few people in Mexico todey realize the importance of the basic work that
Ambassador Castillo Najera did in bringing about the two agreements which settled
the oil compensations end the general claims. It was the settlement of these two
matters which laid the basis for the better relations which increasingly have
existed between the two countries. It was really the work of a statesman, and
the work that he did in convincing President Cardenes was really a tremendous
and constructive teske.

The importent fact is that he did convince General Cardenas that these

claims had to be settled and the sooner that it was done the betters I do not

know what definite instructions Ambassador Castillo Najera had from General
Cardenas, but they must have been of a general character leaving Castillo Najera
a good deal of latitudee.

The settlement of the compensation of the expropriated American oil com~-
panies was very much complicated by the fect that the lMexicen government was
insisting, as a matter of principle, and in this attitude Castillo Najera
thoroughly agreed that the sub=-soil rights were the property of the government
and could not be alienated by the government in concessions to anyone, native or
foreign. The attitude of the United States govermment in this respect wes that
the 0il companies which had received certain concessions from the llgxican govern-
ment and which were given in accord with Mexicen lew entitled them to these sub-
soil rights. It developed early in the conversations between the two governments
that the attitude of Mexico on this point of the sub~soil rights being the property

of the government and that they could not be alienated through concessions, re-

presented an unalterable stand of the Mexican government and one f{rom which under

no circumstences it would recede. On the other hand, the United States govermment
took the position that the legal rights of the companies to the sub=-soil were
established in the concessions granted in accord with Mexican law and that

therefore the arrangement for compensetion should teke note of the wvalue of the




sub-soil rightse.

The second important question was the amount of the compensation. The
third important question was thet the United States govermment insisted on
prompt,; edequate compensation. On this point the Mexican government raised
many difficulties as to what the words "prompt"” and "adequate” meant.

It is greatly to the credit of President Roosevelt and Secretary Hull and
Sumner Welles and the officers of the Legal Division of the Department of State
thaet they approached this matter in a statesmanlike manner. The United States
government finally took the position that the time had passed that any govern-
ment could insist that the sub=-soil rights were the property of those who had
been given concessions. Whatever the legal aspects might be, it was becoming
increasingly obnoxious to many legel authorities as well as to people with broad
business concepts %o think that these sub=-soil rights could be indefinitely
alienated concessions, to natives or foreigners. The United States government
decided to take the position that the sub=soil rights were the property of the
govermment. In other words, we went so far at least as to take the position
that in the agreement which we would meke with Mexico, we would recognize that
the sub=soil rights remain the property of the government and of the nation and
that the value thereof could not be a part of the compensation which the companies
claimed agsinst the govermment for expropriation and which the United States gov=~

give their
ernment would/support. On the other hand, the llexican government agreed on the

principle of prompt end adequete compensation in terms satisfactory to Secretary

Hull and Mr. Welles. This is of course a very inedequate resumé of this impore-

tant situation and I may have to elaborate it for the purpose of clarity and

exactness in a further and final memorandvm on this subject. The fact is that
\Q 4

on November 17 or 19, I will have to determine from the records, an exchange of

notes took place in Washington between the United States and Mexicen jovermments,

laying the basis for the settlement of the oil company expropriations. This
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exchange of notes provided that there were certain claims of American citizens who
had been affected by the expropriation in 1938 which were not specifically covered
in the exchange of notes and which the two govermments agreed should be considered
furthery for appropriate settlement. The exchange of notes provided, so far as
compensetion was concerned which was the third difficult point, that the two gov=-
srnmments would each neme an erbitrators. These arbitrators were to examine the

whole situation with regard to the expropriations of the Mexican govermment of

the Americen oil companies and to arrive at the amount which should be paid to

the companies, with appropriate interest from the date of expropriation. The
two governments agreed in the exchange of notes that they would accept the findings
of these two commissioners, one of which was to be appointed by the Mexican gov-
ermment and to be & Mexicen and the other to be appointed by the United States
government and to be an American citizen. This exchange of notes was one of the
most memorable events in Mexican-American relationships and a great step forwarde
It carried many implications,; for we recognized the principle which had been
maintained by the Mexicens with regard to the sub-soil rights being unelisnable
and the property of the nation, and the liexicans agreed to the principls of prompt
and adequaste compensations These two principles, once accepted as they were in
this exchange of notes by the two govermments, naturally would affect future nego-
tiations and settlements of similar matters by the two govermnments. Both govern=-
ments in meking this exchange of notes were aware of all the implications of the
documents which they were signing.

It is interesting to note in this connection thet on the same day that
the exchange of notes between Mexico and the United States took place on the
sottleoment of the o0il expropriations, that the exchange of notes was signed
settling the long standing claims of American citizens against the Mexican gov=-
ernment, known as the general cleims. The amount fixed upon in the exchangs of

notes was $,0,000,000 dollars, which the Mexican government agreed to pay over a
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given period of years. This money, that is this $40 million dollars, was to be

paid in equal installments over a fixed period of years to the United States

government and it was the United Staetes government which would make itself

responsible for apportioning the money to the Americen claimants in the amounts
which the American government deemed proper on the basis of the long studies
made by the eppropriate officials of our govermnment. Whils the ;O million dollars
was much less than the American claiments had been asking for, it was, in the
opinion of all those who knew the lacts, a reasonable and acceptable settlement.
Again both governments went very far in showing their desire to bring the rela-
tions between the two countries on a sound basis and on which they could develop
as they should. It was no simple matter for the lMexican govermnment to agree in
principle and in practice to pay so large an amount of money. It was no easy
matter for the United States govermment to accept an amount which was so riuch
below the amounts claimed by the Americen citizens affected.

These two exchanges of notes on the same day effected a profound change
in Mexican-American relationships and the beneficent effects of these two settle~
ments are being felt every day in the relations between the two countries. Those
responsible for this sction showed statesmanship and courage end understanding
and deep vision of the major interests of the two countries,

I had little intervention in either the negotiations or in the exchange
notes which followed the negotiations. With regard to the mixed claims matter,

I was not consulted at all while I was Assistant Secretary. With regard to the
oil matter, I was consulted on several occasions by Mr. Hull. He was very much
troubled by the whole metter. Up to that point and the point of agreement with
Mexico on the exchange of notes, the attitude of our govermment had been as
unalterable that the sub=soil rights were the property of the one to whom a legal
concession had been given, and as strong and determined in that resvect, as the

attitude of Mexico had been to the contrary. Secretary Hull knew that it was a
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step which bound our country in the future not only in this Mexican matter but in
other matters of expropriations which might arise. It was a far reaching step and
it had to be done with great care and deliberation. Mre. Hull was convinced that
&by NAariie

WY so fer as the lexican’ i was concerned, it had been improper, hasty and
i1l considered. He was convinced that the expropriation would prove to be an
unwise measure so far as its repercussions in Mexico were concerned. He was,
however, an enlightened statesman and he knew that it was impossible in the
world in which we live to maintain the principle that the sub=soil rights were
not the property of the nation. He realized that there would be criticism, not
only from the oil companies affected but from other interests in our country,
and he knew that interests in other countries not directly affected by the ex-
change of notes and the settlemsnt with lexico would feel that a general basic
principle accepted up to that time had been changed. Mr. Hull lived in his time
and was a man of courage, and in the attitude which he took on this matter he
was supported by the President. It was on this particular phase of the matter
that I was consulted, and I expressed consistently the opinion thet it was incon-
ceivable that in the world in which we live and would have to live in the future
that nations would not claim what was under their soil as their property, and
that the concessions which they would give would be for exploration and devel-
opment and for operations on bases agreed upon, which did not, however, involve
the actusl oil or minerals under the ground being the property of the person or
firm to whom the concession was given. I felt that it was only a question of a
few years in any event before we would be forced to the recognition of this
principle and we might as well do it then. OSumner Welles of course was very
much of this opinion.

During conversations which I had with President Roosevelt and Secretary

Hull end Sumner Welk s before going to fmbmximxkt lMexico to take up my work there

in early 19,2, they told me that the Mexican and American arbitrators had been
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appointed or would be appointed shortly. I was told that they would carry on
their work independently of the Lmbassy and of the Depertment, but I was told

that their instructions were,in accord with the exchange of notes, to arrive at

the amount to be paid to the individual companies in compensation fcr the ex-

proprieted properties, that is for the properties covered by the exchange of
notes, and that those expropriations or demages not covered by the exchange of
notes would be taken up after the arbitrators had reached their decision, and
that these were subject ‘o further consideration on the part of the two govern-
mentse I wes told thet while I was not to press the matter in the immediate
future, that I was to bear in mind that it was the desire of the United States
government to see that the o0il resources of Mexico were explored and developed
in the benefit of Mexicc, as we had a very real interest in securing ligxican oil
for our own consumption. I was given no specifiic instructions except vsry
general instructions to the effect that I was to look into this matter and to
make recommendations as to the bases on which the lgxican 0il resources could
be adequately developed in the interest of Mexico and in the common interest.

It was shortly after I arrived in Mexico that lir. Zevada, the Mexican
Commissioner, and Mr. Cook, the Americen Commissioner, began their work, and while
I knew Mr. Cook and while he came in to see me from time to time during his stay
in Mexico, he did not discuss with me in any way the deteils of the examination
which he and Mr. Zevade were giving to the claims, that is with particular respect
as to the amount to be awarded to the companies. It was I believe towards the
end of 19/,2 that Mr. Cook ceme in to see me and told me that he and Mr. Zevada
had reached agreement and that the agreement was about to be submitted to the
two governments. Ie mentioned the gmount which had been awarded to the American
companies involved in the claims covered by the exchange of notes and it was

approximately 25 million dollars, together with interest accumulated meking total

payments of some 28 million dollars. He said that he and lr. Zevada had reached

complete agreement and that the decision was to be made known thet same night to
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the two governments in Washington and in Mexico City. I could express no opinion
on the amounts decided upon for I was not in & position to do so. The two
Commissioners had spent laborious months in going over the meny documents sub=-
mitted by the companies and all the accumulated evidence. They had made without
any question & sincere and a determined effort to reach an equiteble amount.
While the amount fixed upon was one which I was sure would not be satisfactory
to the American companies and claimants, I was as I said before not in a position
to pass any judgment upon the adequecy or inadequacy of the amounts. I knew Mr,
Zevada as an enlightened man. I knew that they had conscienciously gone into the
matter and I felt confident that they had done their best. The exchange of notes
provided that the agreement reached between the two Commissioners eas to the
amount would be accepted by both governments. There was therefore no question
of our government or of the llexicen government accepting the decision of the
Commissioners. it was another mile stone in Mexican~American relationshipsa

I had in the meantime, while this matter was under settlement between the
two Commissioners, mentioned when I had the opportunity to the President, Genersal
Avila Camacho, and to the Minister of Foreign Affeirs, Drs. Kzequiel Padilla, the
desirability of reaching certain agreements and arrangements which would involve
mere rapid and adequate exploration and development of liexican oil resources.
These conversations were of a general character and purely preliminary. The
matter was not discussed in any specific terms. After the Cook-Zevade award hed
been made public and accepted by the two governments, I begen more definite con-
versations with the President of ilexico and the Minister
Dr. Padilla,

At this time the Mexican govermment had before it a program of public

works, particularly roeds, hospitals, schools, reilways, public services and

many other public works of a constructive character. The tax resources of the

Mexican Treasury were inadequate to meet fully these progreams. The programs were
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on a very reasonable basis. They were not exaggerated in any way. It was quite
obviously in the interest of Mexico that these public works progrems should go
forward and go forward es rapidly as possible. It was equallv obvious thet it
wes desirable for us, that is for the United States govermment, to do what it
could to help in the carrying forward of this program. This would involve loans
from the United Statess.

Up to the signature of the agreements on the o0il expropriations and the
general claims mentioned in this memorandum, lMexico hed not for a period of
approximately 30 years been able to secure any foreign loans. The failure to
pay interest for so meny years on the foreign obligations which bexico had con-
tracted under various administrations hed brought her credit to such a low ebb
that as a matter of fact there was no such thing as Mexican credit in the exter-
nal money markets. The fact that the lMexican government hed signed these agree-
ments covering the o0il expropriations and the general claims had a very helpful
effect not only in the United States but in other countries. It was quite
obvious that the lMexicen government was looking upon the question of foreign
obligations in en entirely different spirit. <Lhe idea of repudiation, a
in the minds of the government and responsibleo businessmen and benkers, had
disappearede They realized that further steps had to be teken to establish
the credit of Mexico. The first step of course was to meet promptly all the
instellments for amortization and interest in accord with the two agreements on
the o0il expropristions and the general claims. There was no doubt that the
Mexican government had determined thet it wes going to pay these claims in
accord with the terms of the agreemenits. As the wes still no borrowing capacity
this meant that these cleims would have to be paid out of current income. In
view of the heavy demends on the govermment for this public works progrem, it

meant that unless the govermnment could get some externsl loens thet it would be

necessery to cut down the very important part of the public works program. It
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was in the interest of our country, not only in times of peace but as we were
engaged in this great war of survivel, that we should begin to give credits to
Mexicoo The attitude of our government in gemeral was favorable but it was
obvious that we would have to go slowly and carefully and only on the basis of
sound, well-prepared projects and so far as possible those which would be
productive.

I had no very specific instructions on this matter from the Depertment,

but I knew what the general policy cof our government weas with respect to Mexico

and that it was our desire to help. It was therefore within the framework of

that broad instruction that I cerried on my conversationse.

One evening the President asked me to come to Los Pinos to his house
feirly late in the eveninge. When I arrived he said he wished to talk to me with
regard to the matter of credits. He spoke of the public works program. IHe

tax
Treasury. He spoke of the 1imited/}esources

spoke of the great demends on the
in particular of the country. He said that he wished to discuss with me the
possibility of securing a considerable loan from the Export-Import Bank. He
said that the linister of Finance, Lic. Eduardo Suarez, had made a study of this
matter. He had come to the conclusion and had recommended to him that Mexico
should ask for credit of 150 million dollars. This credit wes to be asked for
from the Export-Import Bank end to be given the guarantee of the lMexican govern-
ment. I asked him if a definite determination had been made as to the projects
which were to be included in this 150 million dollars. The President said that
he and the Minister of Finance had discussed the principal projects involved but
that no definite program had been laid down.

As lMexico had not been mmmuskumes® able to secure any foreign loans either
from public or from private sources for some time, except perhaps a few short

term credits from banks, and as the amounts needed were considerable, I explained

to the President that the only source of loans for the pressnt was the Export-
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Import Bank in Washington. I told him what the practices of the Bank were. I
expleined to him the purposes for which the Bank had been organized, that it was
an instrument of the United States government, that the money which the bank
had to logn came out of the United States Treasury and that the moneys in the
Treasury, as in llexico, came from the taxpayer. I went into a good deal of deteil
to explain to the President not only the organization of the Export-Import Bank
but its lending practices. In this latter respect I had to tell him rather
painstakingly that I did not think thet the United States govermment, that is
the Export~Import Bank, could consider & request for a global loan of 150 million
dollars, even though it had the gusrantee of the lMexican government. I said
that it was the practice of the bank to make loans for specific projects either
by governments or by private enterprises. These projects had to be carefully
studied and presented. This would require a certain amount of time. I therefore
stated that while I understood thoroughly the recommendation made by the llinister
zf Haciende to the effect that Mexico should ask for 150 million dollars, that
in view of the lending practices of the bank and the procedures which it invariably
followed thereunder, that it would be much preferable not to make mention of any
specif'ic amount to the bank, especially su;h a large amount, but to begin the

llexican

careful preparation of projects in which the/covernment felt that it needed a
part from foreign loanse. I said that the first thing I thought it was necessary
to do was for the President and appropriate officers of his pgovernment to deter=-
mine which were the most important projects which required attention first and
to concentrate on the study thereof and the preparation of all the technical and
financial detsils so that proper studies could be presented to the bank. I said
thet I felt sure that these would receive the very careful attention of the

Export=Import Bank. I could not guarantee what action would be taken thereon.

I could, howsever, say that a request for a global loan of 150 million dcllars,

meking reference in only general terms to the way in which it was to be used,

could not be favorably considered by the bank. On the other hand, if specific
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projects were presented with all the necessary details, that adequate attention and
sympathetic consideration would be given without deley to these applicetions.

The President was very understanding of this metter. He was obviously
a little disappointed but it was largely because he did not know what the lending
practices of the Export-Import Bank were. I think that he realized the reeson=-
ableness and the correctness of the bank's practice and that it was really e
practice that wes in the interest of the lgxican govermnment or of any borrower.
He expressed his appreciation of the helpful informetion which I had given to

him and said that he hoped that he could count on my collaboration end help in

their securing these loanse. I seid thet he could count on my consideration of
but
any project that they might present/%hat my recommendations to my government

would of course have to depend upon my examination and appreciation of the pro=-
jectse The President said that he thoroughly understood this position, which
was the only one which I could take. I endeavored to make it clear thet I
could not express any opinion beforehand as to eny specific projects I ex-
plained to the President how important it was that these projects be presented
in the clearest vpossible way to the Export-Import Bank, that it required a lot
of preparation and study. I said in a very nice way that as the lgxican autho~
rities had no experience in applications of this kind that in any wey I could
be of assistance in giving information as to the practices of the bank, I woul 4
be very happy to do so to the appropriate officers of the govermment who might
approach me in the matter. Parenthetically, here I may say that during the
period that I was Ambassador in Mexico, that is from February 1942 until May
1946, I believe my memory serves me correctly that the Export-Import Bank made
loans to the amount of something like 97 million dollars to Mexico, all for
sound, constructive projects which have been most helpful in the Mexican econo-
my and have borne much fruit not only in the economy of the country but in
improving the atmosphere of the reletionships between the two countries. I may

also add that since May 1946 very considerable further amounts have been lent
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to the Mexican government or to private companies in Mexico by the Export-Import
Bank of Washington and by the International Bank for Reconstruction and Develop-
mente. Every single payment of amortization and interest on these loans has been

mads promptly, just as has every installment due under the oil agreement been

paid promptly and every payment under the general clains agreement has been paid
annual
promptly. In some cases the/bayments have been made by the Mexican government

with some days of anticipation.

It was in connection with these conversations on loans which I had prin-
cipally with the President and with the lMinister of Foreign Relations, Dr. Padilla,
and the Minister of Hecienda, Lic. Suarez, that I was able to mention the question
of the adequate exploration end development of Mexico's oil resources. I
pointed out to the President, as well as to Dre. Padilla on many occasions, that
if the lexican government took the appropriete steps in order to make possible
the participation of American companies together with Pemex in the exploration
and development of the already proved oil resources of lMgxico, it would hardly
be necessary within e few years for llexico to borrow any money. I said that
I knew what the President's ideas were with regard to improving the:slot of the
common people. I said that I realized the necessity for the programs for which
the lMexicen govermment was contemplating loans and using its own tax resources.

I realized the importance of the school program on which he was so wisely en=-
gaged and which he was pressing so hards I realized the importance of further
hospitals, sanitary works in all parts of the Republic, and elso of the sound

road program which the Mexican government had alrsady undertaken and which was

a costly program but which was bringing

D

such great returnse. Isaid that without
loans in very considerable amount the improvement in the Mexican economy would
be slows I said that while loans would have to be resorted to for the present,

that & sound approach should really be made to the problem in increasing pro=

duction in general, and one of the immediate things to be done was the increase
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of production in oile I said that if appropriate agreements were made with regard
to the exploration of Mexico's 0il resources and their development, not only
would the domestic supply for fuel and oil be assured but there would be con~=
siderable mergin available for export, and the proceeds of these exports would
practically eliminate the need for loans, if not altogether eliminate the need
for loans, but would also make possible a vastly increased and accelerated

program of the public works which the President had in mind and which, I repeated,

was so urgently neededs I said thaet naturally, even if the Mexican government
exploration and
decided to undertake a policy of accelerating/ﬁavelopmeat of her oil resources,

it would mean that there would have to be a period of three or four years, and I
belisved that four years would be the maximum, during which she would have

5

resort to loans, but that after that the proceeds of the 0il exports would
sufficient to meet the needs of the broadest program of public works which I
could envisage, at least the broadest and widest progrem which could be carried
through soundly and properly. I said I had only the broadest and most general
instructions to cerry on conversations on this matter, but that we were profound-
ly interested in the economic development of ligxico. I said that President Roose-
velt was in & way just as anxious that the Mexican economy should develop as he,
President Avila Camacho, vase. Both of them realized that an increase in the
stenderd of living in Mexico was not only essential but any imppovement in such
standard would find its reflection in the relationships between the two countries.
In connection with this oil problem I also mentioned the desirability of
increased production in grains, particularly wheat and corn in which lexico wes
in deficit. The imports of wheat and corn were a heavy drain on the foreign
exchange available to lMexicos The President and I discussed at great length
during these conversations the agricultural problems of the country and particu-
larly the necessity for improving the production of corn and wheat end certain

other agricultural products and lessening exports. We had other immediate problems
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at the time, such as even the transportation of the corn end wheat, which could
be purchased in Canada and in the United Stetes to make up the deficit. In view
of the transportation problem during the war and the shortage of cars, it was
often difficult to secure the freight cars in order to carry the corn and wheat
and other grains. Sometimes, in certain areas of Mexico, the supply of corn
and wheat available for the mills was only for four or five weeks and et times
it was not even that. We discussed the methods which could be resorted to in
order to increase production per acre of wheat and corn. We discussed the
various climatic and soil factors which the uexicen government had had to deal
with for years. We discussed the possibility of increesing production through
better seeds, and in this connection I told the President that I thought the
Rockefeller Foundation could lend very wvalusble assistance in this connection &nd
I was sure it was prepared to do so. Incidentally, the President seized on this

idea and what the Rockefeller PFoundation has done in this connection has been a

stupendous achievement, While iexico was importing hundreds of thousends of tons

of corn and wheat in l9h2, it has within the last few years become self=-sufficient
in corn, even though consumption with the higher standerd of living which has
increasingly prevailed has increased, and this year it will be self-sufficient
in the production of wheat. While this means a certain loss of American markets
for corn and wheat in lMexico, it means that the exchange formerly used to pay
for this deficit of grain production in Mexico is now available for other pur-
poses, such as the purchase of equipment of all kinds for the development of the
industrial program of lMexico which is going forward so rapidly, and these im=-
portations of equipment of all kinds are very much in excess of what we were
getting in payment for corn and wheats

I am mentioning the broad range of the subjects discussed by President
Avile Camacho with me in order to show that the o0il problem wes not teken up in

any erbitrary way or with any specific desire to get the American compenies
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back into the picture in Mexicos We realized thet the oil expropriation was there
to stay. We knew thet it was very difficult for the Mexican govermnment to back=
track on this matter, even though it had found that the expropriation may not
bhave been the wisest thing to do. We realized, however, that with the resources
available to the Mexican govermment that her oil resources would be developed
very slowly and verhaps inadequately even to meet internal demand. This would
meke a further demand on the foreign exchange available to the governmment. Our
interest in the o0il problem at the time these conversations were begun was pri=-
marily on the basis of improving the Mexican economic situation in general. One
of the principal things that could be done seemed to be this improvement in and
acceleration of o0il exnloration and development, which we felt could be best done
by private companies through appropriate arrangements with the Mexican government
and with Pemex.

These conversations continued and were very useful. I carried on very
long conversations with the Minister of foreign Affairs, Dr. Ezequiel Padilla, who
was in my opinion the most enlightened statesman in the chancery of any Latin
fmerican country at the time. He was a man of great vision, intelligence and
understanding. He was a great lMexican. He was deeply interested in improving
the economy of the country and the economic condition of the great masses of the
populetion, He was in fact a great humanitarian, and while an idealist he was
very realistic in his approach to economic problems. He realized that the only
approach which could be made soundly and effectively wes & realistic epproach,
Barly during my stay President Avila Camecho hed informed me that I could talk
over these matters thet I was talking over with him with the Foreign Minister,
and he had also so informed the Foreign Minister so that the President was con-
stantlyaware of what I was talking about in the Foreign Officee.

Not much real progress was made in any concrete discussion of the oil

exploration and
problem, that is of furthering/developments sm because it was quite obvious that

in view of public opinion which had been created and public prejudices which had
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been aroused and national pride which hed been stimulated, that any new approach,

no matter how reasonable it would be and how advantageous it would be to the

country had to be made slowly and carefully. Conversations, therefore, all were
of an informative and explorstory charscter. I found the President very much
interesteod in these conversetions. I was deeply interested therein. It was
clear to me from my conversations with both the President and with the Foreign
Minister, Dre. Padilla, that they were in touch on these matters and discussed
between themselves the problems which I had discussed in conversetions with thems.
I saw increasingly a more receptive and always an understanding attitude towards
the problem from both the President and the loreign Minister. I did not in anj
way press them, important as the problem was, as I knew that it would be most

unwise. I knew that it was a problem which could not be settled in a day nor in

& yeare.

1

I kept Secretary Hull and Mr. Wellss, ss well as the President, informed
of the character of these conversstions. They were pleased that I was
thise It was efter I had been in Mexico I believe seveml ycars that the President
indicated to me, no, it wes not several years, it must have been after I had been
there a year or so, that he thought it would be very desirable if I could meke a
more concrete approach. XKE President Roosevelt, who always thought in very broad
lines, and whose approach at the same time wes idealistic and realistic, realized
the importence of o0il being eavailable in adequate gquantities not only to us in the
United States but also to the other Ameri I tblic The war was pressing these
problems in on us. The President said that there was no doubt, from what he had
been told, that there were these tremendous resources in llexico which were not
veing proved and developed. He reslized the problems of the llexicaen govermment in
anything which might appear to be a change of policy. On the other hend, it was
guite obvious that we could not lend them any money for oil development and ex-

ploration and should not do so. It was therefore & question of finding e way by
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which the llexican government would permit American Xor foreign companies of proved
cepacity to come in and carry on the work which they were doing in the United
States and in other parts of the world so effectively. here should be a way to
find such & solution which would in every way be satisfactory to Mexico and which
would not affect the existence of the oil monopoly, Pemex, in Mexico. The Presi-~
dent said that he was greatly disturbed over the possibility of oil shortage in
the United States and in the Americes. He hoped, therefore, thet some dual
errangement could be worked out. He hoped that some arrangement could be found
of an equitable character to the o0il companies and to liexico under which they
would be able to come into Mexico and, together with Pemex, in certain areas desig=
nated by the legxican government cerry on exploration and development. At the
same time he said he was interested in the development of certain resources in
areas which would not be touched and used in times of peaces He therefore pre-
sented the unique idea, which he authorized me to discuss with President Avila
Camacho and the Mexican government, that preferably in the north of Mexico and
as close as possible to the United States where there was reason tobelieve that
oil was present, that exploration should teke place. He said that the United
States govermment woula be willing, he was sure, to pay for the cost of explora=-
tion and development. After these fields had been proved and developed and placed
in a position to ectually produce oil, appropriete storage facilities should be
built and stocks of oil be accumulated in these tanks. The wells could be shut
off when the capacity of the tanks was filled. We would pay all the cost involved
in exploretion, development and building of the tanks and the appropriate faci-
lities. It would be understood that the oil was not to be used and that it was
not to be exported except in time of war or by agreement between the two countries.

This would provide Mexico with a proved field that was set aside for special

purposes and make available & supply of o0il to her when other supplies might be

cut off, and it would make available to us at least in part Mexican resources of
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0il in time of need. The President went on to say that there should be nothing
which would prevent the Mexican govermment from accepting such an offer from the
United States government. It would be something which we would be willing to
finance as a government in the benefit of the two governments end in the benefit
of the other Americen Republics. It was an idee which he felt would have real
appeal to the Mexican government and people. Such a measure of collaboration
between the llexican and the United States governments should have its appeal to
the other govermments of Latin America and the peoples of Letin hmerica, as it
would show the degree to which the liexican and the United States governments
were reeally interested in the problems of inter-American collaboration and defense.

my

There is no doubt that In pubtting forward this idea that the President
had in mind that it would make more nalatable to the lexican governmsnt the idea
of Americen compenies and other foreign compenies, if the llexican government so
wished, coming in and under proper contracts and arrangements with the Mexican
governmment and with Pemex, aiding in exploration snd development of llexico's
resources for her benefit and for the common benefit on an equitable basis.

may say that the President never had in mind any arrangements with Mexican
government which would permit the private companies to return to any area of
Mexico which would involve any improper advantages for the American compenies.
He wes thinking in terms of agreements which would be entirely equitable in
character, bringing a proper return to the compenies and a proper return to the

Mexicen government and therefore to the liexican people, making available to them

these underground undeveloped resources which could be turned into money and

which could be used for all sorts of programs, which would mean increased welfare
of the great masses of the lexicen people.

Although I had given the oil problem e great deal of thought as a result
of the instructions which I had received on coming to llexico, I must say that this

idea had not occurred to me and it struck me as & good one. It required a man of
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vision such as that which President Ronosevelt undoubtedly had to think of this.
I do not know whether the idea was originsl with the President or whether the
matter had been proposed or discussed with him by some of his advisers or friends.
In any event, he was the only person outside of Secretary Hull and Mr. VWielles in
the Department who discussed the matter with me and it was the President who
proposed the idea to me originally. I always had the definite feeling and con-
viction that it was an original conception of his, and it was a sound and wise
cne. The President was so deeply concerned with the defense of the hemisphere
and his thinking was accentuated by the grave problems of the struggle for exis=-
tence in which we and e good part of the rest of the world were engeged against
Germany and her allies. ile wes thinking in long range termse.

After this conversation with the President and on my return to Mexico I
discussed the matter with President Avila Camecho and with Dr. Padilla, the
Foreign Minister. I do not think I discussed it so much in deteil with Dre.
Padilla as I did with the President. I realized that in a matter of this kind
the President would first have to be convinced of the desirability end the feasi-
bility of the idea before any useful conversation could be carried on with any
one else in the govermment. The President liked the idea very much and we dis-
cussed it in a good deal of deteils. The President, under the pressures of the

in my opiniocn
war and of the Mexicen economy,/had become convinced of the necessity of doing
something to supplement the activities of Pemex. This decision in his own mind
which I believe he had made, and of course I cannot affirm this, was [ believe
accentuated and definitely defined when he realized that no money would be
aveileble for oil exploration end development in kexico. This is another impor-
tant problem which I will heve to go into in some detail,

There were those in Petroleos liexicanos, the govermment oil monopoly, end

others in the government and persons like President Cardenas, although he did not

like the idea of getting a lomn, who believed that it would be possible to get =
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very large loan from the United States govermment through the Export-Import Bank
or perhaps by direct legislation of our Congress, for oil exploration and devel-
opment. I do not know what conversations may have taken place between the liexican
Embassy in Washington and the Department of Stete on the subject of such a loan.
It was, however, broached to me constently end most of the time indirectly.
therefore had to seek instructions on this point. I versonally was definitely
opposed to the idea of our govermment making & loan for oil exploration and devel-
opment in Mexico. I knew that we had not done it anywhere else. I was convinced
that we were wise in not having done this. The o0il industry is a very special
type of industry. While there is much said about the large oil companies in the

United States and in Englend and in other parts of the world, there*is no doubt

that in this particuler business it cen only be carried on by private enterprise

and by private enterprise which has available to it large sums of money. It is
an industry in which there is tremendous risk. It is an industry of adventure.
In our ovm country our tremendous oil resources have been developed entirely
through privete initiative and through private cepital. It seemed to me unthink=-
able that we could conmsider lending such large sums of money

volved either in Mexico or in any other country in a venturesome

as the o0il business, and to risk the American taxpayer's money in the hands of

other govermments, when in our own country the industry had been so ably developed
and carried forward by private initiative and pite I found that this was the
opinion of the President and of Secretary Hull. I knew that it wes the opinion

of the State Department as a whole and ple in responsible posi=-
tions in our goverumente I was told that when thi 1bject came up for discussion

I could say that under no circumstences would the United States government make

any loans for oil development or exploretion in lexico or elsewhere. I therefore,

in my conversations with the President and with the Foreign Minister made this

P2 4

very clear. It was at first rather difficult for them to understand that this
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was not possible. I think that probably one of the most difficult and one of the
most effective pieces of work which I was able to do in Mexico in the way of
making clear our attitudes and the sound reasons therefore wes kbkaxk in this par-~
ticular field, that is that our government would not make loans for oil develop-
mont and exploration. It was at first a great disappointment, I am sure, to

President Avila Camacho himself, but I am personally convinced that he came to

the realization that it was not possible and that it was for this reason that he
began to look with favor on this proposal of President Roosevelt with respectto
the establishment of a common o0il reserve in the north of lMexico at the expenss

A

of the United States government but for the benefit of the two countries in times
of emergency and for the defense of the Americas, coupled with the idea of per=-
mitting the American companies of proved capacity end resources to come in and
to work with the lMexican govermment end Pemex under appropriate, equitable con=
tracts to develop repidly and adequetely the oil resources of the country.

I kept the President and the Department informed continuously of the
results of my conversations and I did so mostly orally, in view of the delicacy
of the matter. It wculd not have been helpful in the public interest in either
country and especially as we were in midst of wer, that it be known that the
two governments were thinking in these terms. I should add at this point that
when I talked with the Mexicen suthorities with regard to the opportunity for the
American companies to collaborate in the development of Mexico's o0il resources I
always did so on the basis of American and other foreign companies. I did this
under instruction. I never spoke only of American compenies. I spoke of American

the
and other foreign compenies of proved capacity end resources. Iused/ﬁords "proved

capacity and resources" as it would of course have been of no advantage either to

llexico and her economy or to the United States for companies, whether American or
other nationality to be given opportunities to work in oil exploration and de=-

velopment in llexico if they were not in a position really to carry through with




- 25 =
the engagements which they undertook. It would merely have meant a further com=-
plication of the whole situation.

It was at this point in the conversations of this informal character, for
these were all informal conversations carrying no commitment on either govermment,
that President Avila Camacho spoke to me ebout a trip to the United States to
talk with President Roosevelt on this matter,

As a result of these long and numerous conversations with the President and
with the Foreign Minister, the President had finally reached the conclusion that
it would be possible for lMexico to enter into an agreement with the United
HeO(XA XAXHEX KKK e asked me if I was planning to go to the United States in
near future. I told him that I went very frequently and that I could make
at any time that he had anything that he considered I should take up personally
with the President or Mr, Hull. The President said that he had come to the con-
clusion that something should be done to incresase therate at which the oil re=-
sources of the country were being explored and developed. The idea of the o0il
reserve in the north to be used in case of emergency by ligxico and the United
States appealed to him very much. He thought that it wes a feasible project. e
was also of the opinion that the time had come to talk concretely about ways and
means through which American companies could come into the field of exploration
gnd development in Mexico and in fields not presently exploited by Pemex. He

said that it seemed to him that arrangements could be made between responsible

0il companies in the United States and the llexican government and/br with Pemex,

under which arrangements they would be eble to work. This could be done, he
believed, without changes in the Petroleum law, but if such changes in the petro-
leum law were necessary they should be carried through. He thought it would be
desirable if I were to inform President Roosevelt of his thoughts in this metter
and his readiness to discuss the matter in a concrete way.

I was naturally very much surprised at this definite statement of the
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Presidents It was an act of courage but a wise one. The President said that he
had talked this matter over with various people, including Generel Cardenss.
He had expleined to General Cardenas the lines of the conversationsthat we had
been having and of what he planned to say to me. He said that Generasl Cardenss
wes in accorde In view of the close friendship existing between President
Avila Camscho and ex-President Cardenes, this was of course very important and
it was of course very important from the point of view of public opinion. I
had elways told the President theat the question of what should be done in oil
policy in Mexico was really, in my opinion, not as complex as so many people
made it out to be. I was convinced that not only intellipent and reasonable
people in the country but the great masses of the people who did not think very
much and who were very poorly informed would thoroughly understand and eppreciate
any action of the govermment in order to develop the oil resources adequately,
provided the advantages thereof wers adequately explained by the govermment and
perhaps by the President himself. It would require a clear statement of what
the government had in mind so that it could not be said > it w roing too
far. It would be necessary to explain in deteil what the advantages to the gov=-
oarnment and to the people of Mexico would be if these oil resources w
quately exploited. I had always emphasized in my conversations that

an attitude of the government and the statement thersof to the public would re-

quire a certain emount of courage, I was convinced that it would be almost uni-

versally welcomed except by a few prejudiced people,end I hed in mind naturally
among these General Cardenas. I always felt and still believe that when a matter
of this kind is adequately explained to the people and its adventages fully made
known in a reasonable end a proper and in no sxaggerated way, thet public support
can be sarured for such measures which to meny seem impossible to carry through.
I think thet the President had reached this conclusion and I am inclined to think

that when President Avila Camacho had spoken to General Cardenas about his inten-
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tions in this meatter that General Cardenas realized that any opposition, in view
of e reasonable attitude by the government, would be useless,

The President said that he had told General Cardenas that he wished him
to talk with me before I went to Washington to see President Roosevelt, and he
said that General Cardenas had indiceted that he would be very gled indeed to
talk with me and that I could come for lunch the following dey. JThe President
said that General Cardenas hed indicated that MMrs. Cerdenas would be present at
the luncheon, as well as General Urquize and his wife, and that I was to bring

Mrs. Messersmith. I realized that the purpose of having the ladies was to give

an appearance of a purely personal and unimnortant aspect to this luncheon.
Mrs. ilessersmith and
The following duy/I went to the home of General Cardenas in bexico City.

He lived in a wvery simj ome in the city. General and lMrse. Urquize were there
with General and Mrs. Cardenas. Ve had lunch almost immediately after we arrived.

3

After luncheon the General took me into an adjoining room and he told me that
President Avila Camecho had indicated that I wished to talk with him. I did not
raise any objection to this way of putting it, but I said that I wished to tell
him of the trip which I was going to meke to Washington with regard to this oil
matter., What followed was really not a conversation, as it wes inevitably my
setting forth to him a good many of the observations which I had made to President
Avila Camacho end to Dr, Padilla on the advantages of some arrengements. I also
explained most painstakingly what form these arrangements would teke, at leest in
principles The details of course would heve to be worked out. Genersl Cardenas
offered very little comment during the conversation. At several points he asked
some questions which I answered, seemingly to his satisfaction. His attitude
throughout the entire conversation was courteous. At the end of the conversation
Ceneral Cardenas indicated that he saw no objection to the srrangements which were
4

planned by the President and to what I was intending to convey to President Roose-

velts
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I was naturally very much pleased, as I thought it was another great step
forward not only in the development of the internal economy of Mexico but also in
the relations hetween our two countries. I left for Washington by air the next
morning. It so heppened that we were delayed and I believe it was in Birminghem
that we had to spend the night instead of reaching Washington that evening. I
therefore did not reach Washington until the night after I had planned to arrive.
When we arrived at the airport in Washington I ®Hund to my surprise that a repre-
sentative of the Mexicen Embassy was there, who indicated tlhat he would be very
glad to teke me up town to the lletropoliten Club, where I would be staying. I
knew he must have some reasons for having
from the Department who had come to me
into the city with this member of the Y
Driving into the city, I was told that President Avila Camacho had called
during the day, that is the afternoon of e day I had left Mexico City for Wash~
ington and had asked that I be met at the airnort and informed that thsre had been

certain developments which made it impossible for me to convey at the moment and

during this trip the ssage to President Roosevelt which I had been authorized

to convey. I realized that something important had happened and when I saw

President Roosevelt and Secretary Hull I told them that I felt sure that after

my departure, General Cerdsnes had gotten in touch with the President and reised
2]

objesctions again to any arrangements of the kind contempleted I attended to some

normel business in Washington and returned in a day I believe to i Ci The

day of my return to Mexico City one the President's aides came e me and said

that the President would be very glad to have me come and see him at Los Pinos,

I went to see the President and he was visibly embarrassed and seid with a wry

2 3

smile that he was very sorry that he had had to send me the message which he did,
but that after I left for Washington there had been developments which made it

»

necessary to postpone any definite arrangements for the time beinge I learned
- - J O
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efterwards that after the luncheon which I had had with Generasl Cardenas and to
which reference has been made, General Cardenas came to see the President and
told the President that he hed informed me that he could not go along with these
arrangements. This of course was entirely contrary to the facts I & ould have
added that when I saw the Presidsnt on this particuler visit to Los Pinos and
after he had made his excuses for heving had to send me this message, he asked

T)

me to be good enough to repeat to him exactly what I had said in substance to
g P

General Cardenes at the luncheon at General Cerdenas' house before my departures
I did this in considerable deteil, ) this resumé to the President I could
see him nodding and looking g > and there was no deubt that he thoroughly appre=-
ciated that I had conve
in mind.

I do not
comment with regard to the part which General

matter on this occasion. There are those who

venient to make mention fid Paw then Treasurer of the Democretic Netional

1. & .

Committee in the United States i e 01l problem in Mexico. This is a very

unpleasant story. When I arrived in llexicc as Lmbassador in 1942 I was informed

that Pawley was endeavoring to get an oil contract for exploration and develop=-
ment in Mexico and that he had the support of important peopl n his endeavors ==
that is, in Washington. I soon learnsd the u as 1 existed between
Secretary Hull and Secretary Ickes. £s it is I think a matter of common know-
there is no reason not to state it here that Secretary
tepping the wires of a number of Cebinet officers,

to the President. ‘ matter of fact, when I was Assistant Secretary of




State from 1937 to 19,0 we had reason to believe that thc wires of the Department
and particularly the telephone wires of some of the higher officers of the Depart-

T

ment, including the Secretary, were tapped. I was instructed to have a very
thorough investigation made as I was the administrative officer of the Depertment
during those years, of the possibility that our wires were being tapped. After
having mede some confidential investigations and not finding any such tapping,

it was finally decided to have a very complete investigetion made. For any num-
ber of reasons the relations hetwsen lr. Hull and lMr. Ickes were not on a cordial
end friendly basis. <{he temperament of the two men was entirely different, to
begin with. Mr. Hull was a libersl but he bdieved in private enterprise and
initiative. Mr. Ickes was not only a liberal but an extreme liberal, and while

he may have been friendly to some forms of privete enterprise, he was certainl

not friendly to the oil companies. The efforts of Ur. Pawley to get this oil
contract in Mexico led to a correspondence between Secretary Ickes and Mr. Hull,
which on the pert of iMr. Ickes was extremely rough and crude and improper. It

-

was the character of these letters that lir. Ickes addressed to

accentuated the personal situation between
with each other as possible. It was known that Ir. Ickes was supporting lir.
Pawley's efforts to get this contracte. Uir. Ickes was Petroleum Administrator for

Wer. He delegated a good part of his suthority es such, as was quite understend-

eble in view of the broad duties of the Secretary of the Interior, to lr. Ralph
Devies, who was to all intents and purposes the administrator for petrolsum.
Davies was & close friend of Pawley's and they worked together very closely in
business. Davies was supporting the Pawley contract and Mr. Ickes was supporting
the contract, probably beceuse of Pawley and of Devies.

I secured & copy of the proposed Pawley contract which was under con-

sideration by the Mexican authorities. I read and studied it carefully. I found

it to be the most one-~sided contract that I hed ever seen. It provided such



me.de

- 31 =
special advantages for Pawley that it was quite an improper contract and under no
circumstances could our govermment have supported it., Secretary Hull refused to
do so and we had meny conversations on the subject,

One day President Avila Cemacho asked me to call at Los Pinos. He told me
that he was greeatly concernsd about the Pawley contrect. He asked me if I knew
about ite I told him that I did. He said that since I knew the contract it was
not necessary to go into the substance of it. He said he was greatly concerned
about the matter because he understood that Mr. Pawley had mede it clear that if
the Megxican govermment did not agree to this contract and sign it, that he would
be in a position to meke difficulties for lMexico in securing the manufectured
articles and raw materials and foodstuffs which she needed to keep her economy
going. The President said that he naturally had to keep this in mind, and while
he considered the contract an improper one, there were other things which were
more important for Mexico because the population had to be fed and this deficit
in grains made up through importations from the United States, and that the whole
economy of the country depended upon imports of machinery and equipment of all

kinds, as well as & broad range of articles. He knew that these were difficult
s (o]

to get because he knew thst under the best circumstances the United States govern-

ment had to put into effect these export controls and export licenses
natural part of the whole procedure. He was very worried about the whole matter.
I told the President that he should not have any concern about the matter.

I was sure that Mr. Pawley had been throwing his weight around in wvarious ways,
and perheps in improper ways, by calling attention to the positions which he held.
I told the President that in our country we still held to certain practices and
that we would not treat Mexicc in any way that was unfeir and inequitable. He
knew from the many conversations which we had and from the discussions which we

had had on lexico securing certain materials from the United States which were

in short supply, that our government was meking every possible effort to meet

Mexico's needs. It was our desire to keep the lexicen economy going. We could




not give lMexico any speciel privileges that our own people did not have at home.
That was quite understandable and I was sure he would appreciate it. The Presi-
dent said that he dide. Ie went on to say thet he was quite sure we were giving
Mexico not only equitable and fair treatment, but verv understanding treatment.
He was worried that something might happen to stop the flow of these meterials.
I told him that there was no one man who was in a position to do what Mr. Pawley
had evidently indicated he was able to doe. I seid that i pi of all the
problems that we had in connection with the great war effort we were required to
make, that we were still a quite orderly govermment, and that certain principles
and practices prevaileds I told him he could quite forget about anything that
might happen about lir. Pawley being resentIul over his contract not being signed.
The President said that as this was a purely personal conversation he
would like to ask me a question end that was, what I thought of the contract. I

told him that he kmew what I thought about the desirability of proper things being

the tempo of
done to increase/&exicén 0il exploration and development but that this had to be

done on a correct and equitable basis. I considered the Pawley contract an en-
tirely improper one because Mr. Pawley was seeking special advantages which the
strongest and most important oil companies which were in a position to help would
not be askinge. I said that I considered it an iniquitous contrect and that under
no circumstances did I think lexico should sign such contract. I went on to say
that I had discussed this contract with Secretary Hull and that I knew what
Secretary Hull thought ebeut it. The President said that he had been told that
President Roosevelt and Secretary Hull considered the contract an improper one.

I told him that I had not discussed the contract with President Roosevelt but
that I had discussed it with Secretery Hull and thet I could cetegoricelly assure
him that the Sccretary felt about the contract the same way that I did.

The President was greatly relieved. He said that it was most helpful for

him to be able to have this contact with me and thet I hed relieved his mind




tremendously.
I do not know how long afterwerds but as I recall at this time it was

so long afterwards, my secretary, lMrs. Helen Hall, who had been with me since

arrived in Mexico City, came in and said with a rather surprised look on her face,

"Ed Pawley is outside and wishes to see you." I confess +t Iwas surprised.

I had known of Mr. Pawley for many years. I had known a good deal about him,

1 on

e hed never met. I asked her to brine him into office
and shook hands and I asked him to sit down. I
near my desk but he sat on a chair opposite my desk. I seated myself at my desk.

1

The following is I believe practically a literal statement of the conversation

which took place. There were no preliminaries whatever.

"

understand t you are ? C I seic Yes, Mr. Pawley, vou are
"T eame in to tell you
it was interesting to

say that but that I had every wson Lo believe that the contract would

d that no matt

would be signed.

there, his saying that

tract would not be signeds I was convinced that the lexican government would never

s . R I | r % I TN T s gy RPN o By (e G i ———
s.ct and that its a tude in this particule case was

Llld

voice wes raised during this conversation.

After my last observation just noted he seid Well, perhaps the I come

here and sit in this chair, there will be somebody e sitting in your chair,"

"Mr, Pawley, I em equelly convinced that if you do come dowr

I smiled and said, y

here again and someone else sitting in this chair; he wil y exactly what

il




I have said.™ I said, "It is quite possible, beceuse a good many things are
possible, that some day you may come here and there will be somsbody else
sitting in my chair, but I am just as sure eas I can be that the answer will be
the one which I have just given." With that I rose and he got up, I started to
walk towards the door and as we reached the door I held out my hand end we
shook hands. He had a broad smile on his face and was completely sure of him-
self. It was the only time that I ever saw Mr. Pawley t
afterwards saw him on e number of occasions at a distance in llexico City and in
Weshington and elsewhere, but never exchanged a further word with him.

It was some time after this 2t I read in the newspapers that Mr.

had been nominaeted by the President as Under Secretary of the Treasury and that
the Senate Committee to which the nomination had been referred was going to hold
hearings on the nomination. I naturally followed the matter i 18 press rather
closely. There was a great deal of opposition in the | te and of course in the
country to Mr. Pawley being confirmed for this post,. e day I received a tele-~
gram, I will not be able to determine from whom the tHegram ceme until I have
access to my papers. My recollection is that the telegram came from a friend in
Washington and I do recall definitely that it was to the effect that

likely that I would be called by the Senate Committee to testify in conmnection
with the hearings on this appointment. I took the telegram immediately ecross
the garden fram the Chancery to the house and showed it to my wife and said to
her that I would never be able to testifly before the Senate Committee on this
matter. I would be under oath and I would have to say exsctly what I knew about

my,

Mr. Pawley and all of his activities. There was no doubt that questions would be

esked me about verious things and which might bring in conversations which I had

had with my superiors in Washington. I knew that political capital would be made
out of the frank and honest answers which I would have to give, and thet things

which I would say would be distorted and used for political capitale I felt that
Yy C

the only thing would be for me to resign in case I was asked to testify. I was




- 35 =
naturally upset about it because I was interested in my career. I was particu-
larly interested in my work in lexico. I thought it would be too bad if I had
to leave my post in the midst of the war when I was so in touch with things
happening in the country and with our programs and our work in general. Iy
wife thoroughly understood and she said thet it would be too bad if we had %o
quit; but we had in mind in eny event not remeining in the service too much
longer; and in any event she understood that I could not testify.

My reliefl cen be imagined when I read in the papers the following morning
that the nomination had been withdrawn and that the Senate
automatically stopped.

As further background to this r and as it had such a definite
beering on the llexican oil situation, I will at this point in these notes have
to make reference to a conversation which I with President Avila Camacho,.

I knew of course that ex-President Cgrdenas and the head of the lexican oil
monopoly and certain others in lLigxico had not given up hopes that llexico would
be able to zet a large loan from the United States for oil exploration and de-

]

velopmente I knew, however, that the President of officials

of the lMexican government kmew that such a loan weas 9 TY ‘resident

sent for me one day and he said that he had a very delicate matter that he wished
to discuss in an entirely unofficial way. He said that General Card

informed him that he, Generel Cardenses, had been informed by Ambassador

Nejera in Weshington that the United States govermment was prevered to make a

large loan to Mexico for oil exploration and development. I'rom the information

which he had this information had been given to Ambassedor Castillo Najera by
Secretary of Interior Ickes. The President said thet he had told General Cgrdenas
thet it was his understanding and definite understending thet our govermment

could not and would not make any such loan. General Cardenas was very insistent

on the neture of the information. The President said to me that in view of the

circumstences, he had to talk with me in order to determine what the position was.




He could not disregeard whet General Cardenas had said to him and whet Ambassador
Castillo Najera was understood to have said to General Cardenas. Parenthetically
I may say here that this part of the conversation could not have bheen pleasant
for President Avila Camacho, who was a very correct and courteous man. It was
quitg clear that the principal loyalties of Ambassador Castillo Nejera were to
General Cardenas rather than to the President. These things do heappen even in
well ordered countries. I told the President that I kmew nothing about any con=-
versations which might have taken place between Secretary Ickes and Ambassador
Castillo Najera. I had the definite conviction that President koosevelt had not
made any such statement to the effect that his position with regard to an oil
loan had changed. I said that I felt sure that if such & change of decision
had been made thet I would have been informed. The President said that that

was the first thought that had occurred to hime I told him thst

sometimes things did happen without Ambassadors being informed

believe thers was anything to it whatever. I knew my country too well and I

knew the policy of our govermment too well, so that I had this conviction that

no change of policy would teke place. It was just one of those things which

we could not do. The President said he thoroughly understood, but that in view
of the fact that General Cardenas had been to e him he would eporeciate it wery
out

much if I would find/ﬁust what this was all about. I told him that I quite undsr=-
stood eand that I would meke a trip to Washington to discuss the matter.

While I will have to examine my papers in order to determine the
‘recollection is that this took place about the time that President
returned from Yalta. His health was on the decline. I went to Washington by air
and I called on Secretary Hull and asked him if he knew anything about all this.
I t0ld him verbatim the conversetion with President Avila Camc.chos g said he

knew nothing about.it. He said that the best thing for me to do was to talk with

the President himself. He had talked so much on this question thaet he did not



about.it
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wish to discuss it agein. I think it was because Secretary Hull realized that
Secretary Ickes might have some part in this. I told Mr. Hull that in spite of
my great affection for the President and for him, and in spite of my great in-
terest in the work which I was doing and that the last thing that I wanted to do
was to retire at that time, I would,in case the policy hed been changed and thsat
the President was now in favor of granting such a loan, to immediately resign, as
I could not be a party in any way to such & loan. The Secretary seid I was en=

tirely right, that that was the only thing thet I could do. It would be too bad

if I had to quit but I could certainly not be associated with anything of that

kind. I realized that if the Secretary took up the matter with the President, it
would be a difficult conversation if it should so be the case that the

had changed his mind with regerd to such & loan. It might lead to the
resignation. I realized that I was much less important than the Secretary

that it was therefore up to me to see the President. I knew the President

not well, I had not only this great admiration and affection for him, but

such great respect. It was difficult for me to have any difference with the
President on such an importent matter which made it necessary for me under certain

circumstances to tell the President that I was asking him to accept my

7 resignation.
I cannot describe my feelings on my way over to the White House for this conversa-
tions I don't know when I really felt so badly.

I sew the President the same dey. When I came in to his office I was
shocked beyond measure by the change in his appearance. The President received me
very cordially. He talked in & low voice and was obviously under a strain. For
at leest ten minutes we talked about generalities and personal things. I found
it necessary to come to the point., As I was about to do so and had really started
to say that I hed had this conversetion with the President of lMexico, etc., Presi-

1

dent Roosevelt turned to me and he said, "George, srstand that there is some

talk about our making an oil loen to Mexico and that the position of our government




has charged. I want you to know that there is nothing whetever to it. Our posi-
tion has not changed.

Again I cannot describe the feelings which I hads I was not only relieved
that the President had not changed his opinion on this matter which was so funde-
mental and vital and which 1 knew he could not in any event carry through even if
he had changed his mind, but I was also relieved that the relationship between
President and me could continue on the same terms that I had been privileged to
enjoy for these years, and I was also relieved that I would be able to continue
my work in the service. I can completely honestly say that
even because I did not have to be put into the position of having
wanted to resign and would have to resign if such a policy was to be carried
through or should be inten > be carried throughe. I said to the President
felt sure that that was the way the thing was, but in view of President Avila
Camacho's conversation with m he President realized at I had to come to
talk to him about this matt The P: ; then said that it wes quite un-
thinkeble for us to makse such a loan. 2t it was the kind of loan that the
Export-Import Benk in any event could not make and it would be the kind of loan
that would require the approval of Congress and such congressional approval could
not be secured. I seid that this was the situation and I thought the Mexicens

> 4+

raQ11y’unqer9food ite I was sure that President Avile Camacho understood it.

then seid to the President that as this matter was coming up 2ll the time that

it was really desirable that something be done of a definite character to put

this policy on record, and I suggested that it would be advisab to meke a brief
memorandum and put it in the files in the White House and of the State Department.
The President said that he agreed. Go into one of the next rooms and
dictete it to one of the confidentiel secretaries and come back wi

rendum and I will initiel it and we will put & copy in the files here

can give a copy to the Becretary to put in the files of the Department.

out and I recell definitely dictating a single parag

o]

raphe It was & very brief




ragraph to the effect that it was the policy of the United States govermment not
to meke any loans for oil exploration or development anywhere. That it was the
policy of the United States government that oil exploration and develcpment
be carried on by private enterprise and not by the government.
When the memorandum was written up I went back into th
and he read it and he initialed two copies le kept one copy on
me another copy to
I said to the President

this decision. I did not go into any

would be a good thing for Harold to know." suggested to the President thet he

inform Mr. Ickes. The President said to me, "No, now that you are here why don't
you go over and se 1im right eway and tell him about thi: I told the President
that I

matter . 1 | ; strongly and that

was & matter which should be communicated to him by the Presid
The President smiled and said, "I
him about this memorsndum. You cen tell
proper thing to do and that
about the matter, but

with him for some time eand he
badly to see my f

make the effort to

caell Mr. Ickes on the phone and say

Prosident did in just a few words over the phone. He did n say to lr. Ickes
the purpose of my visite.

President Roosevelt was a man who had extraordinary intuit
)

I am sure thet Mr. Hull had

particular purpose and that
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realized intuitively and instinctively why I had come in. He knew how I would
feel about it and he knew me well enough to know that I would have no part in
any such gezxgxem loen. I think one of the things which the President likec me
for was my attachment to principle and that I placed it above holding a jcb or
any personal consideration. On many cases [ had seen the President show this
intuitive knowledge of what someone wes going to say or what his visit was about.

after the general conversation in which we first
engaged referring to the matter himself in apparently a casual way.

I immediately went over to the coffice of Becretary Ickes, which as those
who know it appreciate is a very large room. When I came *tc the ante room I fHund
that there were & half dozen porters carrying folding chairs out
roome Mr. Ickes' secretary informed me that Mr. Ickes had
conference and that es soon as the cheirs were out of the room
me in. After a few minutes I went into Secretary Ickes' office and he received
me at his desk end was quite cordiale. I started immediately to say what I had
to says I had a certain respect for lir. Ickes but certainly had no reason to
have any liking for him or for meny of his idees or his practices There was no
reason, therefore, for any prelimineries before I delivered my message, as any
such preliminsries and amenities would have been farcisl and he would have known
that they were a farce, as I did.

I opened my mouth to start delivering my message he staerted to ta

He began to deliver me a lecture on the iniquities of the big oil companies.
For at least five minutes he spoke in the most violent terms of the practices
of the oil companiess When I was able to get in a word I said thet I did not
agree with anything that he had said. ily views on this matter were entirely
different. I then started again to deliver my messag le then started to

deliver me another lecture on other aspects of the practices of the oil companies.

In short, for practically an hour I endeavored to deliver my message and he kept
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talking to me about the iniquities of the big oil companiese. I realized that he
was not going to permit me to deliver the message. I did not blame him for not
permitting me to do it. He had every reason to teke the attitude that if such a
message was to be delivered to him that it would come from the President and not
from me. I therefore gave up and I said to lMr. Ickes; I think I recell pretty
textually what I said and it was as follows: "Mr. Secrstary, we do not know each
other very well personally. You know & lot about me, I have been told. I know
e lot about you. People say many things about you, as I am sure they do about
me. Some of them are true and some of them are not true. Whatever peonle may
say of you, I have not heard anyone say that you are not an honest men. I believe
thet you are an honest men, and heving that belief I would recommend very strong-
ly to you, Mr. Ickes, that you read the Pawley contract before you pgo to bed
tonight. If I were you, I would not go to bed tonight before reading the
Pawley contract. It is & long document but I do not believe that you have read
ite I would read it." I got up and we shook hands and he was very courteous.
He had not permitted me to deliver my message but by indirection I had

T

thing which I thought Mr. Ickes should know., I had often

read the contract, for I did not see how he could be for it if he had read ite

The sequel to this conversation with Secretary Ickes is e very interesting one.

In connection with the hearings in the Senate Conmittee when considering the
nomination of Mr. Ed Pawley for Under Secretary of Treasury there is a very in-
teresting item in the Congressional Record, or at least in the records of the
Senate Committee. The newspapers at the time reported that at one of the hearings
Mre Ickes, who was no longer Secretary of Interior, was called as =

was, I believe, Senator Tobey of the committee who said to Mr. Icke

I understand thet when you were Secretery of the Interior you favored a contract

T
f

which Mr. Pawley was endeavoring to negotiate with the llexican government with

regard to an oil concession." According to the newspapers Mr. Ickes replied,
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"Yes, I favored it until I read it."

Whatever the failings of Mr. Ickes may have been, and he had meny es a
public servent; lack of honesty was not one of them. I think that when Mr.
Ickes read the contract after my conversation with him just recounted, he was no
longer for the contract. It was too obvious to anyone who read it that it was
e one-sided contract and one which should not be forced on another government.
Mr. Ickes would not do anything like that. In this respect he was superior to
Henry Wallace, for Henry Wallace was quite prepared to force contracts on other
governments when he was head of the Foreign liconomic Administration which were
obnocxious so far as the laws of foreign countries ere concerned.,

Parenthetically, I may say here that I have tried to read the books which
I

Mr. Ickes has written. They show that he came to Washington with an inferiority

complexe. They show that he was overwhelmed by the attentions which he received

masde

from people whom he considered important and whom he thought he would never best.
- A

!

He hed never dreesmed that he would be in the kind
same inferiority complex, however, made him take & suverior and arbitrary atti=-
LA Bl
tude. So far as his economic and social views were concerned lMr. Ickes i on-
titled to hold them, like any other person in our country, but in some resnects
they were dangerous, there is no doubt. On the other hand, the incident just
described indicates that there were limits beyond which he would not go, sither
for personal friendship or to carry i sffect certain convictions which he hed.
The one thing for which I personally cennot forgive Mr. Ickes is the
difficulties which he caused Secretary Hull. ecretary Hull wes carrying at
that time burdens greater than had ever been carried by a Secretary of State

before. Today the responsibil t

ities of that office are greater then they were at
the time that lMr. Hull was there. Perhaps the responsibilities are not

but they are certainly broader and the burden of work is even heavier.

was as devoted and es conscientious and as intelligent a public servant




known from my reading of history and from what personal knowledge I have, that
our country has ever hade There is no doubt thet these letters which Mr. Ickes
wrote him and which were antirely unjustified by the facts, as Mr. Ickes would
himself I bhelieve later admitted, caused lir. Hull great mental concern. lir.

Hull was very susceptible to this sort of thing. He did not like personal diffi-
culties but he did not shrink from them. Knowing ientiously end how
well Mr, Hull was doing his task of such great importarce to our country, I

10C s 4

could not but resent thet lMr. Ickes should cause him this unne ssary embarrass-—
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It is interesting imxkkixxmarmarkimr with

secure an oil loan to note that these efforts have

tinved ever since the converssations

Hhen
when

gy 2
I

seen the documents and

understend that President Alemen spoke 1
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ment for Pemex in the amount of 4,00 million dollars for oil explorati

velopment. Whatever may have been the rea for President Truman'

v
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I understand that he assured President
best to assure that such a loan would
President returned home and begen to

inalterable policy of our govermment not to meke loans for oil exploration
or development anywhere. Idexico could not be an exception. The President found
that even if we could consider making such
that it would immediately be fol

larger amount, and that we would have
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and other Latin American countries. If the llexican request were granted, these

other loans would have to be granted as well. Completely aside from this,

hovwr-
ever; the President learned thet the Export~Import Bank under no circumstances
would make such a loan, as it considered it beyond its province. [He learned

thet such a loan would have to have the approval of Congress end that Congress
would not give its approval to such & loan. President Trumen was & very wise man

1

in many things and he was a good he knew public opvinion and he knew

that no such loan could
The President was placed in & very difficult position. Ie hed made these

" R = YR I B ¢ . AV eyt v
assurances to the President of a friendly country.

theme A way out

be made; that is a commitment should be made oxicc to make loans for approved

projects by the Lxport-Import Bank in the amount of several hundred million dollarsa

T

The metter was discussced by the President with some
and also with the Export-Import Bank. It is to the eternal

Gaston, who was the head oi the bank at that time,

President as mnalterably opposed to making any

contrary to the policy of tI ank The benk was prepared to examine sympathe-

tically loan rsquests from I
the bank t ke global commitments in large esmounts under which projects

were to be later submitted. ilr. Geston made it clear to the President that the

1 1

policy of the Bxport-Import Bank could not changed wi

thout doing great injury
to our credit policy, as well as d g in ountries themselves which

were seeking such global amounts. There is I think no doubt that lire. Gaston would

have resigned as president of the Export-Import Bank rather than to go through

o

1

with this. Others whom the President consulted counseled him in the sams manner.

M1

There was really an impassec. The President had made what were practically promises

to another Chief of State that & loan for oil development and exploration would be
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given. He found that it could not be done. He felt that the prestige of our
country and the prestige of the Premidency made it necessary for something to
be done. It was finally decided that a line of credit of 150 million dollars
was to be given to Mexico to be used up for xmpxm projects submitted by the
Mexican government to the bank for exemination and approval, and that these

projects would be subject to the same rules and practices and to the same examina=-

tion as precedent requiredo(

President Truman had either been inadequately briefed by someone before
he went to Mgxico on this trip on the questions which would probably be raised
while he was there, or he was badly advised by someone in whom he had confidence

One would think that what happened in 194, in this connection as recounted
in this memorandum and what happened later when President Trumen came to llexico
would be sufficient to discourage the efforts on the part of certain persons in
Mexico to secure such & loan for the o0il monopoly in Mexico. The present director
of the o0il monopoly Pemex, lMr. Bermudez, who is in many other ways a very under=-

=

standing man, still believes that such & loan can be secured and is continuing to

A 1
!

meke efforts to secure it. There are certein members of Gongress who have given

mi

him aid and comfort in this hope. There a in persons who undoubtedly

for
personal benefit, certainly not out of conviction as to the desiral

a loan, are encouraging the idea. The only effect thet this unhappy belief that
a loan can be granted has is that it delays certain action in connection with the
reorganization of Pemex and delays the meking of certain oil arrangements, which
are so desirable in the interest of Mexico and her economy and people. A more
realistic attitude is being takémn at this time on this matter and the drains of
the operations of Pemex are becoming such a heavy burden on the national treasury
that remedial measures are being sought, or at least being explored. These will
be the subject of another memorandum.

The British govermment felt so strongly with regerd to the oil exproprietions
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that it broke off diplomatic relations with illexico. The British Minister at the
time of expropriation, whose neme I believe was Sir Richard Ovey, I will have to
check the name, was recelled and no successor sent. Feeling naturally ren rather
high in Washington over the expropriation and feeling ran very high in our coun-
try. The relations between the two countries, howsver, were not seriously
affecteds The official relationships between the governments in llexico City and
in Washington remained very much the same except that there begen a series of
note exchanges between llexico City and Washington alreedy referred to, in which
the tone wes anything but cordial and which one high official frequently referred
to as an exchange of "dirty notes". Our government realized, however, that no
purpose would be served by an interruption of diplomatic reletions. In fact, the
very contrarye.

As I recall from information which I have, Ovey, the British Minister, was

-

most imprudent in language which 1 ised I sgard to Mexico and the Mgxican

wid

government. There is D ibility ths if Ovey ] remained in Mexico and had
not been recalled by his govermnment, that the llexicen covernment might have de-

clared him persona non grata. This is a point I will have to check, as I am not

sure as to whether the statements of Ovey had very much effect on the question of
the interruption of .diplomatic relations. What is certain, however, is that the

British government felt that by such & strong measure as the interruption of

diplomatic relations it could bring pressures on lMexic This feeling was a

roflection of that which existed in the Foreign Office in Loadon for meny year
and which hed been used in many cases. As a matter of fact, although Dritish
interests in a good many of the Latin countries were becoming increasingly impor=-
tant and British investments had assumed real significance in a good many of
these Latin countries, there was very real knowledge in London either in business

or in government circles as to what was going on in these Latin countries. They
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was better than the one which we made with the Americens."
It was some time later that Davidson came in to see me and said that he

wished to have a very frank talk about this whole matter. Ie said that he did

not think that the negotiations were going along very well and that that was too

bade. I said to him that talking with the same frenkness that I thought nothing

could be accomplished until the instructions which the British Legation had from
London were different. It was quite obvious that the Foreign Office was en=-
deavoring to get a settlement on a different basis from that of the American
companies, and in the first place I we are that +t Mexicans would never agree
to anything like that and as e matter of fact I see how they could. I told
him that after all, the trade relations

relatively low scale as compared with thos

said that Greet Britain took very little in the

would likely not be taking very much, under the

develop. On the other hend, Pritain was more interested in sel

then she wes in buying. The United States was the principal market for

from ligxico and would remain that for meny years to come. Besides that, for

reasons the United States would be the principal Ssupplier of Mexico in

=

many lines of imports that she needed. There were geographical and all kinds
of considerations which had to be teken into account. It waes verfectly natural
for the Mgxican government not to be disposed to meke any arrangement with Great
Britain on the o0il expropriations which was any better than the one with the
Americans, Devidson said he thoroughly understood thet and it was a very ridi-
culous attitude to take and he thought the attitude of the Foreign Office and
that of his companies was not the correct one. They would have to change their
position.

I told Davidson, as we were ng in such e frank and personal way, that

-

there was another matter that I wanted to mention. It was a rather delicate onee
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picture of the situation to the oreign Office and to the British companies.
orrectly Davidson mede a trip to England and on

ceme in to sce 1 sa hat the basis for the negotiations would

and that certainly there would be no request for any

the British companies or for any better treetment.
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the results of our worke I told him that I thought considering a1l the factors
involved, that a great deal had been accomplished end it had been accomplished
through his understanding and his conviction and the real desire which he had to
improve relations between the two countries. He then asked me what I thought
were the principal things which we had not been able to accomplish during my
stay. As I will refer to this conversation in another memorandum I will only
refer in this memorandum on the problems of o0il to the one problem which I men-
tioned first as the one on which we had not been able to reach any definite
settlement or xmamk make any appreciable progress, and that was the question of
oils I told him that I was very sorry thet we had not been able to reach an
agreement on the points which we had been discussing I was so convinced that
it wes in the interest of both countrises, b was convinced that it was even
more in the interest of liexicos. The exchange situation was better but it would
be a problem in Mexico for yeers. The tax resources of the country were im~
proving but it was & slow and steady process. It could not be
any artificial means. This meant that Mexico would continue to have to resort

to loans. I had been very glad to be helpful in the getting of some loans which

<

I was sure were good loans. They were turning out very sati ctorily. It was

too bad that llexico had to continue to meke the loans

she had this o0il under her soil which if properly exploited would remove in a

very few years the necessity for loens end give her in addition the money which
she needed to accelerate the program of public works, schools, sanitation, etc.

I wanted him to know, however, that the reason we had not aerrived at a ssttlement
Gk 93
in my opinion was not due to any efforts on his part or those of the Foreign
Lo 7 S, A N
Minister, or to any;effOﬁ's on the part of President Roosevelt and Secretary
Hull and of my government. I said that I thoroughly appreciated the situation

in Mexico and that he would be leaving the presidency a2t the end of the yeare

I knew that this did not give the time to bring about a settlement before he




left the presidency, and that in any event it was customary in lMexico not to make
such importent settlements or arrangements during the last year of the term of a
President. It was e problem which I could well appreciate he would have to leave

to his successor. President Avila Camecho said ti he wes very appreciative of

o

4

understanding and that he hoped that I would have my government understand this,
said that it was quite impossible for him to do anything during the remainder
of his term. He would have to leave it to his successor, who he hoped would
bring about & settlement slong the lines we had been discussing and which was or
such equitable bases. He said that he believed that his successor would do so.
s a source of deep regret to him after all the efforts that had been put
into this matter that it could not have been settled during his presidency. He

.

would have liked to do it. I am sure that the President was completely sincere

in what he seids

President Aleman took the oath of office as President on December 1, 19L6.

reason to believe that President Aleman had maede up his

mind before he took > oath of office that he would settle certain internal

3=

problems in Pemex which were giving the government great concern, and also would

take steps to bring about more ranid exploration and develooment of the lexicen
X §

ources: There is even reason to believe, and I believe good reason to be

that the President seriously considered going ehead with a program which would
permitted the foreign companies to come into ilexico on an equitable basis.

further to express the opinion that it wes one of the principal +things which

President Alemen had in mind.

Shortly after he became President the leaders of the Syndicate of Petroleum

Workers began to make grave difficulties for the government and for Pemex.

President took very energetic action. He intervened in the matter in a way

a

which no President hed intervened in e labor matter for many years. It was

act of courage at the beginning of his administration. He undoubtedly took
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strong attitude towards the syndicete leaders in Pemex because he had in mind

hat there wers certein things that he wished to do in the petroleum industry and

these questions within the industry itself in llexico, esp ally the arbitrary

attitudes of the syndicate leaders, would have to be repressed from
or he would not be able to make any progress in any mejor matters,

affecting policy. While the lesders of the syndicetes, that

Mexico are unusually arbitrary and have really very little regard for the interests
of the workers but have more in mind their own personal interests and in many
cases political inlluence and preferment,
workers syndicate the leaders
number of employees
ment monopoly, has always been much higher
of the dreins on tl peration of the petroleum
taken this strong stand with respect to the leaders
seemed to take an easier attitude which became increasingly ee during
following vears of his administreti
n this matter of the 0il workers at
great impetus to Preside:
expected from hii Pol.tical consi
began to have their play es the
beceme more obviou
>utset
When I returned
tour of duty in Buenos Aires as Chief
for my retirement and had completely reti
naturally had no further c« with
with the government ceased. As the oil
+

primary importance in the llgxican economy

my general interest in a that concerns the meintenance of the economy in Mexico
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following in the ways that were within my power,
the developments with regard to

I think that it may be said with correctness that while there hanx been conver-

since 19,7 with the Mexican government on the oil problem, it has not

a return of the American or foreign companies. The conver-

saetions have related more pvarticularlv to the sttlement of certain cleaims which

were, &s I have stated previously in this memorandum, not included in

change of notes of 1941 end in which exchs
+her
IS ¢

furtt consideration between the two governmen

very properly been
settlement, the
make reflercnce

of the 0il problem

. — e I —_— evirs . .
SCIrucCctlive SO0LUuTlL

e aoanaoned
President and of
the United States govermment through the Lxport

that it might be by - government for o0il exploration and development,

A1though Pemex

rond not only ’ S ; I wnhatever tne ligxican government
y Y
=

through the Treesury, might

The line of what seemed to be
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government. Senetor Morse I am sure would be the first to raise great hue and
cry if our govermment should intervene in eny situstion in any one of these

American countries. This, however, d

on the floor of the Senate which could not be intervpretted

Lo

than an electoral speech in lavor of a candidate for office in another country.

It was reminiscent of the activities of Braden in
disastrous results.
W K KR8 X0l XX X KTKw KA Svies A (AN X ek
found in the Congressional Record.
Various well=intentioned people
the history of the oil problem in

3 + 1 — - he e a9 mwen ool 2 4 - S e e B a PR B AR S Y a
with lexico have been increasingly tice n 1 : yeers concerning wha

they cell the failure of the United St=

Mexicos The basic motivation

well or ill inten-

tioned persons in the United States is to keep alive hopes in llexico of

which hopes cennot be realized, and to thet extent their efforts are
llexico getting to the point m ‘ adequate so ion of

5

I will end this memorandum ¢ he 0il situation here.

1
iy

place, the first paragraphs T have to be written
covering the : 5] v befor ! I am getting

¢ ame to

together the 11 this tcok pla before 1
liexico and my memory therefore cannot serve me in this respect as it can with re-
spect to those things with which I wes

.

I must also look into the

between Mexico and the United St 5 just before expropriation and

C G
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tion., There are some interesting things in that correspondence to which brief
reference can be made in this memorandum on the oil situation and problem of
Mexico.
I shell also have to look into when the first stabilization agreement
was entered into with llexico. If my recollection serves me adequately, the f
stebilization egreement which the lreasury entered into with liexico was

about the same time as the exchenge of notes on the basic settlement
expropriations and of the general claimse. The situation of the peso

ifficult in 1940 and in 1941. The Mexicen govermment was talking

ernment concerning meens by which the peso situation might

certain cir-

cumstances and the conversations

go into

factor in bringing about the oil agreement From the point of view of convincing

General Cardenas that an oil settlement was necessary it may be that t stabili=-
zation agreement was an importent factor. General Cardenas could

et the peso crumble. He had taken so many steps in the internal social picture

in Mexico and economy concerning which there was divided opinion

1

in the country, that it was not likely that he v went to run the risk of

a devaluation in the peso, which would have been & very heavy one.

I also wish to give in these notes what my own views are out of

my long
contact with the problem as to what Mexico should do in order to m ts own
needs of petroleum and in order to make possible the exploitation of her resources
before atomic energy or other sources of fuel mey meske these 0il resourcss of

Mexico less valuable, I want to cover in this memorandum what the ectual situe-~

tion is in the country with regerd to production and exploits. I want to cover
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in this memorandum the o0il exports into the north of lexico, particularly of
gasoline, because of the distribution problem and the poor communications, or
rather inadequate communication system. I want to bring out the fact that the
0il exports of Mexico are not covering the cost of the imported oil in the

north and lubriceting oils. I want to cover whet we did during the period that

9

I was Ambassador to aid in the refinery in lexico City principally for the pur=-

Q

nose of producing high octane gasoline in order to relieve the pressures on us
for exports of high octane during the war. This is very important as this loan

seemed to be a departure from our loan prectice to many people, when in fact the

loan hed nothing whatever to do with oil exploration or development and had to

do with refinery construction, which is entirely another matter. I want to bring
out that our loan for this refinery in Mexico City during the war was justified

2s & war measure alone, if on that ground only.

I want to cover the thought which the present administration of Ruiz Cor-
tines is giving to the oil problem again, in view of the fact that the demands of
Pemex on the Treasury are becoming so heavy that the Treasury cen no longer con-
tinue to meet them indefinitely. I want to cover thet this edministration, just

-4

as President Aleman did at the beginning of his, is thinking in serious terms of
a long range solution which would bring in the foreign companies on an equitable
basis. I want to bring out that there is & greater chance of success for such

negotiations at this time, in view of the fact that the llexicen govermment is he=-

coming scared that the development of etomic enerrsy for peaceful purposes may re=-

place to & large measure the use of other fuels, such as pctroleum. They are be-
ginming to feel that they mey end up with their o0il underground and not having go
anything out of it. I want to emphasize that the rea.son for considera~-
tion of the problem, even if nothing comes out of it,; is the fact that reasu

cannot meet these further demands f{rom Pemex,

4
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